A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The trial court abused its discretion when it failed to make

an independent calculation of defendant's offender score.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'SASSIGNMENTS OF
PRROR

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it relied on the

doctrine of collateral estoppel to determine defendant's offender

score rather than making an independent analysis as required under

the SRA?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Procedure

On August 23, 2011, the State charged Thomas Floyd, hereinafter

defendant," with violation of a domestic violence court order and one

count of stalking by way of an amended information. CP' 5-7. On

November 21, 2011, a jury found defendant guilty as charged. CP 10, 11.

1 Citations to Clerk's Papers will be to "U." There were two sentencing hearings in this
case, but the transcripts were not sequentially numbered. Therefore references to the
verbatim report of proceedings will be to "RP" followed by the date of the hearing and
the page number.
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On December 2, 2011, the parties appeared before the Honorable

Garold E. Johnson for sentencing. RP (12/2/11) 1. Defendant represented

himself, with standby counsel present. RP (12/2/11) 1. The State

requested that sentencing be continued, as the certified copies of the

judgment and sentences for defendant's criminal history had been sent to

the Court of Appeals in a prior case, and the State needed additional time

to reacquire the copies. See RP (12/2/11) 2-3. Defendant also filed a

motion to dismiss during the hearing. RP (12/2/11) 6. The court found

good cause to continue the hearing. RP 17.

On January 13, 2012, the parties again appeared for sentencing.

RP (1/13/12) 1-2. The court denied defendant's motion to dismiss which

he had filed at the last hearing. RP (1/13/12) 24. The sentencing court

then raised the issue of collateral estoppel with respect to defendant's

offender score. RP (1/13/12) 24. The court believed that a prior Pierce

County judge had addressed identical arguments and was concerned about

reaching a different conclusion. RP (1/13/12) 27. The State informed the

court that it had to make an independent calculation of defendant's

offender score, RP (1/13/12) 25. The State also informed the court that

regardless of issues of collateral estoppel, defendant's offender score

should be five for the current offenses, giving him a standard range of 33-

43 months on each count. RP (1/13/12) 28; CP 31-45. The State also

informed the court that Judge McCarthy's ruling was currently subject to

appellate review. RP (1/13/12) 28.
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Defendant objected to the State's calculation and argued that his

offender score should have been zero. RP (1/13/12) 30. Defendant then

attempted to collaterally attack his current conviction. See RP (1/13/12)

30-32. The trial court found defendant had an offender score of five, after

accepting the "offender score that Judge McCarthy found." RP (1/13/12)

36. The State presented certified copies of judgment and sentences for

defendant's prior felonies, as well as documentation of his misdemeanor

history. See RP (1/13/12) 37-41. Defendant objected on the grounds of

zealous prosecution and collateral estoppel. RP (1/13/12) 38 -39.

Defendant again argued that he was innocent of the charges. RP

1/13/12) 45-46. Over the State's objection, the court allowed defendant's

standby counsel to argue that his offender score should be two, rather than

five, based in part on Judge McCarthy's ruling that the 1972 robbery

conviction was unconstitutional, and that the 1972 assault 2 conviction

should be treated as a Class C felony. RP (1/13/12) 47-52. After

additional argument from defendant relating to his innocence, the trial

court acknowledged that it had read counsel's sentencing memorandum

from Judge McCarthy's case and ruled that defendant's offender score was

two. RP (I /13/12) 64.
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The court sentenced defendant to a high-end, standard-range

sentence
2

of 17 months in custody, together with standard fines and

conditions. RP 64-65.

The State filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 46-63.

D. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION

WHEN IT FAILED TO MAKE AN INDEPENDENT

CALCULATION OF DEFENDANT'SOFFENDER

SCORE AND RELIED INSTEAD ON THE DOCTRINE

OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL.

Ordinarily review is limited to determining whether the trial

court's calculation of the offender score represents a clear abuse of

discretion or is based on a misapplication of the law. State v. Burns, 114

Wn.2d 314, 317, 788 P.2d 531 (1990); State v. Walden, 69 Wn. App. 183,

188, 847 P.2d 956 (1993). The trial court has considerable discretion in

sentencing, but its discretion does not extend to categorically refusing to

entertain a request falling within the strictures of the Sentencing Reform

Act of 1981, chapter 994A RCW (SRA), and principles of due process of

law. State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005).

Any sentence imposed under the SRA shall be determined in

accordance with the law in effect when the current offense was committed.

2 With an offender score of two, defendant's standard range was 13-17 months. RP 59.
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RCW 9.94A.345. "A prior conviction is a conviction which exists before

the date of sentencing for the offense for which the offender score is being

computed." RCW9.94A.525(1). The State must prove prior convictions

by a preponderance of the evidence in order for the trial court to consider

them in calculating an offender score. State v. Labarbera, 128 Wit. App.

343, 349, 115 P.3d 1038 (2005). Where a criminal defendant has out-of-

state convictions, the sentencing court must conduct a comparability

analysis to determine if the out-of-state conviction is either the legal or

factual equivalent of a Washington crime. State v. Calhoun, 163 Wn.

App. 153, 160, 257 P.3d 693 (2011).

The doctrine of collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, applies in

criminal cases. State v. Peele, 75 Wn.2d 28, 30, 448 P.2d 923 (1968);

State v. Blakey, 61 Wn. App. 595, 598, 811 P.2d 965 (1991). Our

Supreme Court has set forth the following collateral estoppel test:

Before the doctrine of collateral estoppel may be applied,
the party asserting the doctrine must prove: (1) the issue
decided in the prior adjudication is identical with the one
presented in the second action; (2) the prior adjudication
must have ended in a final judgment on the merits; (3) the
party against whom the plea is asserted was a party or in
privity with the party to the prior adjudication; and (4)
application of the doctrine does not work an injustice.

Thompson v. Dept ofLicensing, 138 Wn.2d 783, 790, 982 P.2d 601

1999) (quoting Nielson v. Spanaway Gen. Med. Clinic, Inc., 135 Wn.2d

255, 262-63, 956 P.2d 312 (1998)). Under the SRA, the current

sentencing court is statutorily required to conduct an independent
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sentencing inquiry as to the offender score value of prior offenses, without

regard to prior sentencing decisions. See RCW9.94A.345; see also State

v. Harris, 148 Wn. App. 22,28,197 P.3d 1206 (2008) ("a future

sentencing court may not simply rely on a criminal history from a previous

judgment but must compute the offender score anew at any future

sentencing hearing").

Class B prior felony convictions other than sex offenses
shall not be included in the offender score, if since the last
date of release from confinement (including full time
residential treatment) pursuant to a felony conviction, if
any, or entry ofjudgment and sentence, the offender had
spent ten consecutive years in the community without
committing any crime that subsequently results in a
conviction.

RCW9.94A.525(2)(b). Assault 2 is a class B felony RCW

9A.36.021(2)(a).

Here, the State proved by a preponderance of the evidence that

defendant's offender score should have included his 1972 convictions for

robbery and assault in the second degree, as well as a 1981 conviction for

taking a vehicle without permission and a 2011 conviction for assault in

the second degree. The State presented certified copies of judgment and

sentences for the felonies. See Exhibit 1, 3. The State also presented

certified copies of the dockets for district court convictions of various

misdemeanor crimes showing that, since 1972, defendant had not spent 10

consecutive years in the community crime free. See Exhibit 3.
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The certified copies of the judgment and sentences were sufficient

to show that defendant should have had an offender score of four, not

including his current convictions. The evidence of defendant's

misdemeanor convictions were sufficient to prove that none of his felony

convictions "washed" under the SRA. The sentencing court erred when it

did not consider defendant's 1972 and 1981 convictions in his current

offender score.

The trial court abused its discretion when it categorically refused to

conduct its own analysis of defendant's offender score. Under the

doctrine of collateral estoppel, the sentencing court adopted the findings of

Judge McCarthy. See RP (1/13/12) 24-36. The sentencing court accepted

that the 1972 conviction for robbery was unconstitutional on its face and

that the 1972 conviction for assault in the second degree was comparable

to a class C felony. See RP (1/13/12) 64. The sentencing court abused its

discretion by failing to conduct its own determination of defendant's

offender score.

In addition, the trial court abused its discretion when it applied the

doctrine of collateral estoppel in adopting a prior judge's determination

that defendant's prior convictions could not be counted as strike offenses.

First, the issue decided was not identical to the one presented in the second

action. Judge McCarthy was determining whether the prior convictions

counted toward a persistent offender finding, not for the calculation of

defendant's offender score. In fact, Judge McCarthy included the prior
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convictions in the offender score despite his finding that they did not count

toward a persistent offender determination. See RP (1/13/12) 28.

Second, the prior adjudication had not ended in a final judgment on

the merits. The State filed a cross-appeal challenging Judge McCarthy's

findings. That matter has not yet been decided by this Court and is not

final.

Finally, the trial court abused its discretion when it failed to follow

proper courtroom procedure and heard argument from defendant's standby

counsel. There is no right to "hybrid representation, such as a pro se

defendant serving as co-counsel with his attorney." State v. De Weese, 117

Wn.2d 369, 379, 816 P.2d I (1991) (quoting State v. Bebb, 108 Wn.2d

515, 524, 740 P.2d 829 (1987)). While standby counsel may engage in

unsolicited participation in the defense, he or she may not interfere with

significant tactical decisions, control the questioning of witnesses or speak

instead of the defendant on material matters. State v. Silva, 107 Wn. App.

605, 627, 27 P.3d 663 (2001).

Here, the trial court ruled that defendant's offender score was a

five, then inexplicably, heard argument from defendant's standby counsel.

See RP (1/13/12)36,47-52. The court then accepted counsel's argument

and determined defendant's offender score as a two. RP (I / 13/12) 64.

The trial court abused its discretion when it allowed stand by counsel to

represent defendant without determining whether defendant wished to

withdraw his request to proceed pro se.
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E. CONCLUSION.

The State respectfully requests this Court to vacate defendant's

sentence and remand for resentencing with a corrected offender score.