# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

THOMAS LEE FLOYD, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable John McCarthy, Judge

No. 10-1-00019-6

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By MELODY CRICK Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 35453

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

## **

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

### C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRETION IN TERMINATING DEFENDANT'S PRO
SE STATUS AFTER DEFENDANT ENGAGED IN
SERIOUS MISCONDUCT DURING CLOSING.

The United States Supreme Court recognizes a constitutional right of a criminal defendant to waive assistance of counsel and to represent himself at trial. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975). The Washington Constitution similarly provides that the accused in criminal prosecutions shall have the right to appear and defend in person. Const. art. 1, § 22 (amend. 10); *State v. Barker*, 75 Wn. App. 236, 881 P.2d 1051, 1053 (1994). The trial court must be careful when a criminal defendant unequivocally requests the right to represent himself; the unjustified denial of this right requires reversal. *State v. Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d 496, 503, 229 P.3d 714 (2010); *State v. Breedlove*, 79 Wn. App. 101, 111, 900 P.2d 586 (1995).

Although the constitutional right to self-representation is fundamental, it is neither absolute nor self-executing. *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 819; *Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d at 504; *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn.2d 561, 585–86,

- 10 - Floyd.doc

23 P.3d 1046 (2001), *State v. Rafay*, 167 Wn.2d. 664, 222 P.3d 86 (2009). "The right of self-representation cannot be permitted to justify a defendant disrupting a hearing or trial, or as a license to a pro se defendant to not comply with relevant rules of procedural and substantive law." *State v. Fritz*, 21 Wn. App. 354, 363, 585 P.2s 173 (1978)(citing *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 834-35 n.46). Defendant's actions can cause his right to self-representation to be terminated. *State v. Jessup*, 31 Wn. App. 304, 312, 641 P.2d 1185 (1982). If defendant is disruptive or if delay is the defendant's chief motive, the court can terminate self-representation. *Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d at 509, n. 4. The court can terminate self-representation if a defendant engages in serious and obstructionist misconduct. *Frtiz*, 21 Wn. App. at 363(citing *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 834-35 n.46).

Defendant's behavior throughout the pre-trial hearing and trial was consistently disruptive and delayed the administration of justice. During defendant's rearraignment on November 18, 2010, defendant continually interrupted the judge, and at one point even laughed at the judge.

11/18/10RP 4, 5, 12-14. During the colloquy on defendant's own motion to represent himself, defendant continually had to be reigned in by the court. See 11/18/10 RP 16-30. Toward the end of the colloquy, the court had to repeatedly tell defendant to stop talking and listen; the court had to threaten to stop the proceeding. 11/18/10RP 27, 28. Even after the court

-11 - Floyd.doc

made its decision, defendant continued to argue with the judge and the court had to ask the jail to take him out of the courtroom. 11/18/10RP 30.

Throughout the motion on December 2, 2010, defendant continued to interrupt the court. 12/2/10RP 7, 12, 23-24, 29, 31. At the hearing on December 29, 2010, the court had to admonish defendant several times through the course of the hearing. 12/29/10PMRP 21, 22, 34-38.

Defendant's behavior did not improve during trial and contributed to several delays. On the first day of trial, when asked if he was ready for trial, defendant responded that he had motions he wanted to present. RP 3. Defendant then went through several motions that had already been ruled on. RP 4-5. During the hearing, the court continually had to admonish defendant, usually for interrupting. RP 20-21, 24, 31. Defendant also kept repeating himself on issues that had already been addressed. RP 33, 59. Defendant also did not agree with the court that the case was going to trial despite the fact that it had been called for trial. RP 61-63. The court warned defendant that he would rely on defendant's standby counsel if defendant did not know what was going on. RP 35.

On the second day of trial, defendant again tried to bring motions. RP 114. The court had to remind defendant that they had spent five hours the day before going over defendant's motion. RP 114. The court made a record that defendant continued to disrupt the court. RP 118, 121. Despite the fact that defendant had continually objected to continuances, when it actually came time to start the trial, defendant did not want to

- 12 - Floyd.doc

proceed. Defendant tried to delay the start of trial by saying he wasn't ready, that he refused to pick a jury, and that he wanted a continuance. RP 117-18, 122. The court had to warn defendant that if he continued to be disruptive and impact the orderly administration of justice, he would not be able to go pro se and defendant's standby counsel would take over. RP 126. Defendant then threatened his standby counsel and the court had to tell him to stop. RP 127-28. Later, defendant remarked in front of the jury that he had been rushed into trial. RP 333.

Throughout trial, defendant interrupted witnesses, the State's argument and the trial. RP 148, 189, 511, 548, 693, 694, 779. Defendant had to be admonished not to interrupt. RP 20-21, 24, 31, 477. Defendant also continually abused his cross-examination time. During cross, defendant repeatedly tried to testify. RP 207, 303, 327, 336, 342, 343, 347, 377-78, 422, 467, 492, 493, 514-15, 524. Defendant had to be admonished repeatedly during cross and in some cases, his cross examination was ended because he was asking inappropriate questions, covering the same thing over and over and not listening to the court's instructions. RP 215,-216, 227, 231, 234, 236, 255, 323, 331, 332, 338, 344-45, 346, 380, 382, 417, 440, 446. Defendant talked to the jury and made inappropriate comments in front of the jury. RP 328, 333, 382, 384, 409. Defendant asked a witness if she has ever been raped and told another witness that there were consequences for perjury. RP 159, 572. Several times, the court had to warn defendant that stand by counsel may

- 13 - Floyd.doc

have to take over if defendant could not follow directions and behave appropriately. RP 236, 394, 412-13, 543, 571, 573, 576. The court made a record of defendant's disruptions. RP 573, 691, 739.

After being extremely patient and giving defendant many warnings about his behavior, the court could not tolerate defendant's disruptive behavior on the final day of trial. First, defendant tried to subpoena his dog. RP 701. This caused the court great concern. RP 702. Next, defendant tried to delay his closing. RP 731-32. Defendant then spent his closing argument trying to show the jury exhibits that had not been marked or admitted. RP 733-34, 738-39. The court finally had to excuse the jury and address the parties. RP 739.

The trial court, which was in the best possible position to view what was happening in the courtroom and throughout the trial, made a record that defendant was attempting to scuttle the trial. RP 739. The court then heard from both stand by counsel and the State as to what he should do in this situation. RP 739-742. The court noted that defendant had been doing closing argument for 17 minutes, and the majority of the time had been arguing facts not in evidence and making inappropriate, disruptive statements. RP 743. Even as the court was trying to get defendant to listen and give him one more chance to argue his own closing, defendant continued to interrupt and disrupt the proceedings. RP 743-47. Defendant continued to argue with the court about evidence he wanted to admit, and when the court told defendant he would give him one

- 14 - Floyd.doc

more chance to finish his closing, defendant launched into a tirade about the victim withholding evidence. RP 747. Defendant could not follow directions, would not contain his argument to the facts in evidence and would not listen to the court. Defendant's disruptions caused the court to have to excuse the jury and then spend a great deal of time trying to get defendant to cooperate and behave.

Defendant's behavior throughout the proceedings and trial was disruptive. Defendant's behavior during closing was serious misconduct and the last straw. The court warned defendant several times, even before the start of his closing, that he could only use exhibits that were marked and admitted. RP 732. The court in this case bent over backwards to preserve defendant's right to represent himself. When defendant blatantly ignored the court's instructions and admonishments, and committed serious misconduct that severely impacted and ultimately disrupted the trial, the court had the discretion pursuant to case law to terminate defendant's self representation. The right to self representation is not absolute. Defendant's own actions caused the court to have to terminate his self representation. The trial court did not error.

- 15 - Floyd.doc

2. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT DEFENDANT OF VIOLATING A NO CONTACT ORDER WHERE THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY VIOLATED THE ORDER.

When reviewing sufficiency of the evidence, the court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution and determine if any rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Rangel-Reyes, 119 Wn. App. 494, 499, 81 P.3d 157 (2003), State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). Challenging the sufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence. State v. Gerber, 28 Wn. App. 214, 217, 622 P.2d 888 (1981), State v. Theroff, 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 1254 (1980). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must favor the State and must be interpreted most strongly against the defendant. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Both circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Lubers, 81 Wn. App. 614, 619, 915 P.2d 1157 (1996). In the case of conflicting evidence or evidence where reasonable minds might differ, the jury is the one to weigh the evidence, determine credibility of witnesses and decide disputed questions of fact. Theroff, 25 Wn. App. at 593. Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and

- 16 - Floyd.doc

not subject to review. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990).

The written record of a proceeding is an inadequate basis on which to decide issues based on witness credibility. The differences in the testimony of witnesses create the need for such credibility determinations; these should be made by the trier of fact, who is best able to observe the witnesses and evaluate their testimony as it is given. On this issue, the Supreme Court of Washington said:

great deference . . . is to be given the trial court's factual findings. It, alone, has had the opportunity to view the witness' demeanor and to judge his veracity.

State v. Cord, 103 Wn.2d 361, 367, 693 P.2d 81 (1985) (citations omitted). Therefore, when the State has produced evidence of all the elements of a crime, the decision of the trier of fact should be upheld.

Defendant was charged with violation of a no contact order-pre sentence. The State had to prove that there was a no contact order applicable to defendant, that defendant knew about the order and knowingly violated a restraint provision of the order that prohibited contact with the protected party. RCW 26.50.110, CP 170-207, Instructions 25-30. Defendant only challenges that defendant knew of the existence of the order. Specifically, defendant argues that the State did not prove that the signature on the order is defendant's signature. However, the validity of the order is a question of law that was not raised below and

-17 - Floyd.doc

is not the proper subject of an appeal.<sup>2</sup> Further, the State presented sufficient evidence that defendant knew about the no contact order.

The validity of a no-contact order is a question of law and not an element of the crime. *State v. Miller*, 156 Wn.2d 23, 31, 123 P.3d 827 (2005). "Questions of law are for the court, not the jury to resolve." *Id.* It is the court's job to determine what orders are valid and to admit those orders that are applicable to the crime charged. *Id.* Defendant's allegation that the signature on the order is not defendant's goes to the validity of the order. Such a challenge should have been presented at the trial level in terms of the admission of the order. Such a challenge was not raised. The State, had a challenge been made to the validity of the order, could have developed a record as to its validity, and the trial court could have then made a ruling. No such record exists because defendant did not raise the validity of the order as an issue. Further, as the validity of the order is not an element of the crime, the State is not required to bring witnesses or

- 18 - Floyd.doc

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> While a criminal defendant may raise a constitutional error for the first time on appeal, the error must be manifest. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The defendant has the burden to make the required showing of "identify[ing] a constitutional error and show[ing] how, in the context of the trial, the alleged error actually affected the defendant's rights; it is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error 'manifest,' allowing appellate review." *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333; *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 839, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006); *State v. McNeal*, 145 Wn.2d 352, 357, 37 P.3d 280 (2002); *State v. McDonald*, 138 Wn.2d 680, 691, 981 P.2d 443 (1999). Significantly, "[i]f the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record on appeal, no actual prejudice is shown and the error is not manifest." *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333.

testimony to verify the validity of the order, such as an expert on defendant's signature. As the validity of the order was not raised below, it is not a proper challenge on appeal. This Court should decline to address it. Defendant's challenge to the sufficiency of the elements is a valid issue for appeal and will be addressed below.

The State presented sufficient evidence for the trier of fact to find that defendant knew about the no contact order. The no contact order was admitted into evidence. RP 466, Exhibit 70. The no contact order had been entered in open court on January 4, 2010. Exhibit 70. The order has the same cause number as the instant case. Id. Defendant is listed as the defendant in the caption of the document. *Id.* The order is signed on January 4, 2010, and the incident date for the assault in this case is January 3, 2010. *Id.* The victim is Annette Bertan who is the victim in this case. *Id.* The order is signed by defendant, defense counsel and Judge Culpepper. *Id.* The idea that someone else signed the document, or that defendant was not made aware of the order is not supported by the evidence and is not how case law directs the court to examine the evidence. Looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there is sufficient evidence that defendant appeared in court on this case the day after the incident date, and that a no contact order was issued that prohibits contact between defendant and the victim in this case. Defendant signed the document as did his defense counsel. There is a reasonable inference that the judge advised defendant of the order in open

- 19 - Floyd.doc

court and that his defense counsel, who signed the document, also advised defendant about the order. There is also a hand written notation that defendant could have a civil standby to collect his belongings which lends to the inference that there was some kind of discussion about the document. The document is straightforward, self explanatory and was entered as evidence in this case. There is sufficient evidence that defendant knew of the order.

3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT DEFENDANT WAS NOT A PERSISTENT OFFENDER.

The State alleged that defendant's 1972 priors for robbery and assault in the second degree were most serious offenses and made defendant a persistent offender. CP 235-492. The trial court found that neither of the prior offense counted as a strike. SRP 106. The trial court erred in allowing defendant to collaterally attack his 1972 robbery conviction and erred in finding that defendant's 1972 assault in second degree was not comparable. The State asks this Court to reverse the trial court's ruling.

- 20 - Floyd.doc

a. The trial court erred in allowing defendant to collaterally attack his 1972 conviction for robbery under the current cause number.

The prosecution does not have the affirmative burden of proving the constitutional validity of a prior conviction before it can be used in a sentencing proceeding. *State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 187, 713 P.2d 719 (1986), *see also State v. Irish*, \_\_ Wn.2d \_\_, 272 P.3d 207 (2012). The court in *Ammons* stressed the policy reasons behind this rule:

To require the State to prove the constitutional validity of prior convictions before they could be used would turn the sentencing proceeding into an appellate review of all prior convictions. The defendant has no right to contest a prior conviction at a subsequent sentencing. To allow an attack at that point would unduly and unjustifiably overburden the sentencing court. The defendant has available, more appropriate arenas for the determination of the constitutional validity of a prior conviction. The defendant must use established avenues of challenge provided for post-conviction relief. A defendant who is successful through these avenues can be resentenced without the unconstitutional conviction being considered.

Ammons, 105 Wn.2d at 188. The court in Ammons reasoned that a defendant has no right to contest a prior conviction at a subsequent sentencing. *Id.* at 188. The court held that a defendant seeking to invalidate a prior conviction must use established avenues of challenge provided for post conviction relief in the state or federal court where the judgment was entered and, if he is successful, he can then be resentenced without the unconstitutional conviction being considered. *Id.* 

-21 - Floyd.doc

To be constitutionally invalid on its face, a conviction must show constitutional infirmities on its face, without further elaboration. Ammons, 105 Wn.2d at 188; State v. Gimarelli, 105 Wn. App. 370, 20 P.3d 430, 433 (2001). The defendant bears the burden of establishing the unconstitutionality of his or her prior conviction at a sentencing proceeding. State v. Thompson, 143 Wn. App. 861, 866, 181 P.3d 858 (2008); citing In re Pers. Restraint of Williams, 111 Wn.2d 353, 368, 759 P.2d 436 (1988). When determining facial unconstitutionality, the court will not "go behind the verdict and sentence and judgment to make such a determination." Ammons, 105 Wn.2d at 189; Thompson, 143 Wn. App. at 867-68 (the court will review the "forms alone," and if a determination cannot be made the defendant's claim fails). The face of the conviction can include a plea agreement, but does not include items such as jury instructions. In re Thompson, 141 Wn.2d 712, 718, 10 P.3d 380 (2000). Even if the defendant's claims "appear" to be valid or "may" be unconstitutional, this is not enough to prove facial unconstitutionality. (See Ammons, 105 Wn.2d at 189, "Ammons argues that the jury instructions used in his prior trial denied him his constitutional rights. Ammons also appears to raise valid challenges, but the validity cannot be determined facially.") (See also, **Thompson**, 143 Wn. App. at 867-68, "We concede that given the discrepancy between the forms, Thompson's

convictions may be unconstitutional. Like *Ammons* though, because a determination cannot be made from review of the forms alone,

Thompson's claim fails.")

In the instant case, defendant claimed that his 1972 conviction for robbery was constitutionally invalid. CP 493-507. Specifically, defendant argued that the information and first jury instruction in defendant's 1972 case misstated the elements of the crime. CP 493-507. This argument, however, requires the court to go beyond the face of the judgment and is contrary to case law. Defendant was even informed of this at the December 29 hearing when the court denied defendant's motion to withdraw his 1972 plea, and his motion to overturn the 1972 jury verdict. 12/29/10RP 11, 14. Despite this, the trial court considered this argument, found a jury instruction was in error and as such, found that the conviction was not valid on its face. SRP 105-106. Such an argument and ruling is in violation of case law.

Requiring a defendant to collaterally attack his prior convictions in the court where the conviction was entered promotes consistency in how all future sentencing courts will treat the conviction. When a challenge is made in the court where the conviction was entered, the superior court clerk's file will reflect the determination made by the original trial court. Similarly, if an appellate court grants relief on a personal restraint petition, a copy of the order will be filed in the superior court clerk's file pertaining

- 23 - Floyd.doc

to that conviction. Anyone examining the court file will be able to determine the constitutionality of the conviction. In contrast, challenges raised in sentencing courts will be reflected in the superior court file pertaining to the new conviction, rather than the court file pertaining to the prior conviction. This procedure invites inconsistent treatment each time the prior conviction is raised as criminal history in various sentencing courts.

In fact, two different judges in the instant case ruled on the validity of defendant's 1972 robbery conviction. On December 29, 2010, Judge Culpepper reviewed the certified documents pertaining to the 1972 convictions and indicated that they looked valid on their face. 12/29/10PMRP 14, 15. In particular, on the robbery count, the court stated, "This case, 43205, robbery, he apparently went to trial, was found guilty by jury, the judgment says, of robbery. Again, on the face of it I see nothing in particular wrong with this. I'm not going to go behind the face of it today since it's the wrong case number. I'm going to deny the motion to overturn the jury's verdict in that case." 12/29/10PMRP 15. Judge Culpepper made the correct ruling in regards to the facial validity of defendant's 1972 robbery conviction. However, at sentencing, the issue was raised again and Judge McCarthy went behind the face of the document. Judge McCarthy acknowledged that defendant had filed a direct appeal on his 1972 robbery conviction and had never raised the issue he was raising now at sentencing. SRP 105. Despite this and despite

- 24 - Floyd.doc

case law to the contrary, the court went behind the face of the document and looked at the jury instructions and concluded that the robbery conviction was invalid on its face. SRP 105-06. Judge McCarthy allowed defendant to turn the sentencing hearing into an appellate proceeding on defendant's 1972 case. Two different judges in the same case looked at defendant's 1972 robbery conviction and handled it differently. This is why defendant must attack his 1972 conviction under that cause number so that it can be treated the same in all cases. Judge Culpepper made the correct decision while Judge McCarthy erred.

Further, Judge McCarthy's ruling is confusing. The trial court stated that he did not agree with defense counsel that defendant's 1972 robbery conviction was not comparable. SRP 106. The State agrees with the trial court that defendant's 1972 conviction for robbery is comparable. In *State v. Failey*, 165 Wn.2d 673, 677-78, 201 P.3d 328 (2009) (en banc) the court held that robbery as defined in RCW 9.75.010 at the time of defendant's conviction is directly comparable to the current crime of robbery in the second degree, which is a most serious offense. The court in *Failey* analyzed the exact same charging language as the instant case and held that it was comparable to a robbery in the second degree. *Id.* ("The conduct charged in the information to which Failey pleaded guilty in 1974 stated that Failey unlawfully and feloniously '[took] personal property from the person or in the presence of Jack Dean Pruitt, against his

- 25 - Floyd.doc

will or by means of force or violence or fear of immediate injury to his person."").

Since there is no difference between the crime, statute, or charging language analyzed by the *Failey* court and defendant's case, it is difficult to see how that trial court could find defendant's conviction comparable but also find it facially invalid. The language that the court found to be facially invalid is the exact same language the court found comparable and that is addressed in *Failey*. Defendant's robbery conviction is valid and comparable as a most serious offense. The trial court's decision finding otherwise should be reversed.

The trial court, in this instance Judge McCarty, erred in considering defendant's collateral attack on his 1972 robbery conviction. The challenge to the 1972 conviction is not proper under this case. Further, the trial court erred in going behind the face of the document and looking at the jury instructions to determine whether or not the conviction was valid. This Court should reverse the trial court's ruling and remand for resentencing.

- 26 - Floyd.doc

b. The trial court erred in finding that defendant was not a persistent offender when it found that defendant's 1972 conviction for assault in the second degree was not a most serious offense.

A sentencing court's calculation of an offender score is reviewed de novo. *State v. Tili*, 148 Wn.2d 350, 358, 60 P.3d 1192 (2003). "An offender convicted of a 'most serious offense' must be sentenced to life imprisonment without early release if he has at least two prior convictions for most serious offenses and those prior convictions would be included in his current offender score under RCW 9.94A.525." *Failey*, 165 Wn.2d at 675. RCW 9.94A.030(32) defines what constitutes a "most serious offense." Subsection (u) also lays out the comparability analysis required for older prior offenses: "[a]ny felony offense in effect at any time prior to December 2, 1993, that is comparable to a most serious offense under this subsection, or any federal or out-of-state conviction for an offense that under the laws of this state would be a felony classified as a most serious offense under this subsection." RCW 9.94A.030(32)(u). Under RCW 9.94A.030(32)(b), Assault in the Second Degree is listed as a most serious offense.

- 27 - Floyd.doc

In the instant case, defendant pleaded guilty to assault in the second degree in 1972. The trial court ruled that this conviction was not comparable as a strike offense.

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